FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/4/2025 4:01 PM

NO. 86615-0

Case #: 1042647

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEAH CAMPANELLI and KEITH CAMPANELLI, Appellants

v.

PEACEHEALTH SOUTHWEST MEDICAL CENTER, SHANNON L. SATHRE and THOMAS L. SATHRE, Respondents

v.

DR. WAEL Y. MUSLEH, NORTHWEST SURGICAL SPECIALISTS, P.C.

Respondents

ON APPEAL FROM THE CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

LEAH AND KEITH CAMPANELLI'S PETITION FOR STATE SUPREME COURT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

NIGEL S. MALDEN, WSBA No. 15643 Nigel Malden Law 711 Court A, Suite 200 Tacoma, WA 98402-5228

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether Defendant Sathre violated her legal and ethical duties of RN care and confidentiality by helping a newspaper reporter obtain a public record to identify Campanelli as her patient and to obtain details about her hospitalization?

IV. <u>Statement of the Case</u>

2017 Hospitalization

In 2017, Campanelli suffered from "severe and disabling" back pain. As a result, she scheduled lumbar laminectomy surgery with Dr. Wael Musleh, a neurosurgeon employed by Northwest Surgical Services with patient privileges at PeaceHealth Southwest Medical Center in Vancouver, Washington. Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr., 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). PeaceHealth admitted Campanelli on December 19, 2017 and Dr. Musleh performed the surgery the same day. Id. The next morning on December 20, RN Alin Bob assumed care for Campanelli. Id. Campanelli told RN Bob that she was in severe pain and that the medications the hospital gave her were not working, so she was taking some Nucynta that she brought from home to manage the pain.¹ Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr., 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).

While RN Bob does not remember the specifics of this conversation, he wrote in Campanelli's chart that he did not administer the pain medications Oxycodone and Gabapentin to Campanelli "because patient stated she took her morning medicines." Id. About 30 minutes later, Dr. Musleh came to Campanelli's hospital room for a postoperative visit. Id. Campanelli told Dr. Musleh that she was in severe pain and taking Nucynta that she had brought from home. Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr., 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). She claims Dr. Musleh did not discourage her from taking the Nucynta or otherwise inform hospital staff that she was taking any medication outside his pain management plan. Id. According to Dr. Musleh, he told Campanelli to stop taking the Nucynta and again explained that he was managing her medication. However, Dr. Musleh did not ask Campanelli to relinquish or otherwise dispose of the Nucynta. Id.

After her meeting with Dr. Musleh, Campanelli continued to experience severe pain and called Dr. Musleh's office to let him know. His office told her to continue to follow the instructions from her nurse. RN Bob then returned to Campanelli's room around 10:00 a.m. to check on her, and Campanelli told him she had "'just took the whole pill bottle of Nucynta," which was 85 tablets. Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr., 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). RN Bob called a "code blue" and an emergency response team moved Campanelli to the intensive care unit (ICU). Campanelli was "tearful and emotional," "yelling for the nurses to leave her alone," and "flailing her arms." As a result, the nurses placed her in restraints.

Emergency Response

The emergency response team pumped charcoal into Campanelli's stomach and placed her on a Narcan drip to evacuate the Nucynta from her body. <u>Campanelli v.</u> <u>PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr</u>., 565 P.3d 933, 937-38 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). RN Sathre began caring for Campanelli in the ICU. Id. According to Campanelli, RN Sathre removed Campanelli's restraints so Campanelli could go to the bathroom. Id. RN Sathre then "grabbed" Campanelli's arm. When Campanelli tried to pull away and said "'don't touch me" and "'let go of my arm," RN Sathre shoved her backward onto the bed. <u>Id</u>.

RN Sathre then called for assistance, and medical personnel helped her pin Campanelli to the bed to reattach the restraints. <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 937-38 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). Campanelli says that she was coughing and having trouble breathing. Id. RN Sathre's chart notes differ from Campanelli's version of events. <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). Her notes say that Campanelli told her she needed to urinate, so RN Sathre asked Campanelli if she wanted to get out of bed to use the bedside commode and Campanelli said yes. Id. RN Sathre's chart note states:

[O]nce standing the [patient] started to say, "let go, leave me alone, I don't want you in here[."] We told her we could not leave we were there for her safety, she immediately became violent started swing[ing] her arms and pushing us, we put her back onto the bed She then began kicking, striking me in the chest/upper [abdomen], she pulled her [nasogastric tube] most of the way out, was stopped by another RN, she then began spitting at the staff. <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med.</u> <u>Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 938 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).

Campanelli remained in the hospital for follow-up surgery on December 21, 2017. The hospital discharged her the next day on December 22. <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med.</u> <u>Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 938 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).

RN Sathre Contacts the Columbian Newspaper

About a month later, RN Sathre submitted an online "news tip" to the Columbian, a local Vancouver newspaper. Id. She suggested a news story about patients assaulting health care workers. In her tip, RN Sathre discussed the "high rate of employee assaults" at PeaceHealth and referenced her personal experience of being assaulted by a patient on December 20, 2017. Id. She said the issue deserves public attention because "health[]care workers are frequently threatened and assaulted with no consequence to the aggressor."

Columbian health reporter Marissa Harshman contacted RN Sathre to discuss the incident. She explained that she had gotten data from both Vancouver hospitals "about their numbers of assault incidents and injuries" and was waiting for data from the prosecutor's office. <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med.</u> <u>Ctr., 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).</u>

Harshman asked if she could use RN Sathre's experience in the story and RN Sathre agreed "as long as it doesn't interfere with the [Vancouver police] case" because the Clark County Prosecuting Attorney's Office was filing charges. Id. RN Sathre did not name Campanelli as the aggressor in the assault. But, at Harshman's request, she provided Officer Materne's name, the police report incident number, and, later, the Clark County Superior Court cause number so that Harshman could "pull the court documents." <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). Harshman suggested that this procedure would "avoid ... causing any problems" because it would help her get access to the details of the assault without RN Sathre having to discuss the case. <u>Campanelli v.</u> <u>PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 938 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).

Harshman took the police report number provided by RN Sathre and immediately used it to request a copy of the police report from the Vancouver Police Department via public records request. <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr.</u>, 565 P.3d 933, 937 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025). The documents show that the police department released a copy of its report to Ms. Harshman approximately one business day later. <u>Id.</u>

In March 2018, the Clark County prosecutor charged Campanelli with third degree assault. Id. In April, the Columbian published a newspaper story with Campanelli's name, a photograph of RN Sathre, and RN Sathre's description of the assault. Id. On January 7, 2019, the prosecutor dismissed the assault charge against Campanelli due to "insufficient evidence to prove the charge beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr</u>., 565 P.3d 933, 938-39 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).

Campanelli filed suit in Clark County Superior Court alleging multiple causes of action including four based on Sathre's communications with the newspaper reporter, including violation of the RN standard of care, violation of RCW 70.02, breach of fiduciary duty arising from a special relationship and common law invasion of privacy--public disclosure of private facts.

The trial court dismissed all of the Campanelli's claims on summary judgment. The appellate court partially reversed and partially affirmed the trial court dismissal of Campanelli's claims. The dismissal of Campanelli's common law invasion of privacy claim for public disclosure of private facts was dismissed because Sathre:

"did not tell (newspaper reporter) Harshman intimate details of Campanelli's personal or private life. She described to Harshman the details of Campanelli's assault but did not identify Campanelli by name. And Campanelli fails to show that an incident number to a publicly available police report amounts to an intimate detail of one's personal or private life, even if that public information contains personal identifying information."

The Campanellis are not asking for further review of this ruling

on the invasion of privacy claim. They are asking the supreme

court to review the dismissal of the three alternate claims for

breach of the RN standard of care (RCW 7.70), violation of

privacy rights under RCW 70.04, and breach of common law

fiduciary duty. All of these alternate causes of action have

different elements, and are supported by Washington case law

and expert ARNP Wilkinson's unrebutted expert testimony.

E. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

1. <u>Sathre breached her legal, ethical and professional</u> <u>duties of care and confidentiality when she helped a</u> <u>journalist identify her patient using a police report</u> <u>number</u>

The Campanelli's expert on RN standard of care, ARNP Karen Wilkinson, testified in her declaration that patient identity is Protected Health Information (PHI) which is expressly protected from public disclosure under state and federal law and the standards of the profession which include the American Nursing Association (ANA) Code of Ethics.² The defense conceded the point and admitted that RN Sathre could not have revealed Campanelli's name directly to the newspaper reporter without violating HIPAA and the RN duty of confidentiality.

² HIPAA defines "Health care information" as "any information, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium, that identifies or can readily be associated with the identity of a patient and directly relates to the patient's health care..."

The only dispute is whether RN Sathre can dodge her legal and ethical duties of confidentiality by helping the reporter identify Campanelli and obtain details about her hospitalization through a police report or any other public record.

ARNP Karen Wilkinson testified that, by assisting the reporter obtain a police report in order to identify Campanelli and obtain details about her hospitalization, Sathre violated the RN legal and ethical duties of care and confidentiality. As ARNP Wilkinson put it:

"Sathre had no right to give Harshman any information that would help her identify her patient, Leah Campanelli by name. If Sathre wished to seek publicity for herself, she could do so. But, she had no right to encourage or direct unwanted and embarrassing publicity towards her patient."

The defense offered no expert testimony to contradict or rebut ARNP Wilkinson and chose to focus their attack solely on ARNP Wilkinson's expert credentials. Therefore, when the

appellate court rejected this attack on credentials, the defense had nothing in the record to rebut ARNP Wilkinson's opinions and conclusions.

Nonetheless, the appellate court held that Campanelli had not proved RN Sathre did anything wrong by giving the newspaper reporter a police report number because a police report number is a public record which is not confidential or protected health information. This holding completely ignores the legal and ethical prohibition against revealing any information that may help identify a patient.

The notion that a doctor or nurse may disclose information just because it's referenced or contained in a public record makes no legal or logical sense. As ARNP Wilkinson explained, such a notion violates HIPAA, RCW 70.02, the ANA Code of Ethics, and the RN standard of care. It is even contradicted by PHSW's own statements presented in a *Media Policy and FAQ* posted on its website which is excerpted below:

"Cases of Public Record

In cases of public record those reportable to fire, police, sheriff, health department or other public authority, patients have the same privacy rights as all other patients. PeaceHealth Southwest will provide information on patients involved in incidents of public record under the same guidelines listed above. PeaceHealth Southwest may refer media questions to the public entity that makes the hospitalization part of the public record." CP 000475-000479, at 477.

PHSW also claims to follow the guidelines of the Washington

State Hospital Association (WSHA) published in the Guide for

Cooperation With News Media. CP 000481- 000493. The

guidelines state that patients do not lose privacy rights just

because some of their information is part of a public record as

indicated in the excerpt below:

"Cases of Public Record

Information about police and accident situations is the most recent frequent request a health care facility receives from the news media. However, in cases of public record, (those reportable to fire, police, sheriff, health department, or other public authority), patients have the same privacy rights as all other patients, as far as the hospital is concerned...Because a hospital has an obligation to report certain confidential information to a governmental agency does not make that information public and available to news reporters." CP 000490.

Campanelli's three alternate claims for violations of RN standard of care, RCW 70.02, and common law fiduciary duty based on a special relationship were all strongly supported by expert ARNP Wilkinson in her declaration:

"Sathre had no right to give Harshman any information that would help her identify her patient, Leah Campanelli by name. If Sathre wished to seek publicity for herself, she could do so. But, she had no right to encourage or direct unwanted and embarrassing publicity towards her patient."

ARNP Wilkinson's opinions and conclusions are soundly based on her education, training and experience as well as her review of voluminous materials including deposition testimony, medical records, emails, the American Nursing Association Code of Ethics, and several professional journal articles. ARNP Wilkinson said that protecting patient confidentiality and PHI is at the heart of the special trust relationship between nurses and patients and many legislatures and courts in Washington and around the country have said the very same thing. Sathre's argument that she did nothing wrong because she helped the reporter identify her patient by giving her the number to a police report might possibly work if Sathre had no special or confidential RN/Patient relationship with Campanelli. But Sathre and Campanelli had a special confidential relationship *as a matter of law* and Campanelli has submitted plenty of evidence if not incontrovertible proof that the defendant breached her RN duty of care, RCW 70.02 and her common law fiduciary duties which she should be permitted to seek compensation for at trial.

This case does not involve the mistaken, accidental or inadvertent disclosure of PHI. The record is clear that Sathre intended and acted deliberately to evade HIPAA while helping a reporter identify her patient by name through a police report which only she had ready access to.³

³ PHSW kept one internal security incident report that contained the number of the police incident report but it was designated as

This court has ruled that these facts do not meet the unique requirements of a common law invasion of privacy claim but did not really address whether they meet the requirements of Campanelli's three other claims brought under RCW 70.02, RCW 7.70 and common law breach of fiduciary duty.

According to Wilkinson, Sathre crossed way over the legal and ethical line and "had no right to drag her patient into a news story and shine the media spotlight on a very embarrassing and humiliating experience that occurred inside a hospital while she was recovering from major spinal surgery and an overdose. Sathre stated in her deposition that she thought this was a way to dodge HIPAA and confidentiality law, but it absolutely was not."

[&]quot;confidential" and no one had access to it absent special authorization.

In her opposition briefing, Sathre cited <u>Florida Star v.</u> <u>B.J.F.</u>, 491 U.S. 524, 109 S. Ct. 2603, 105 L. Ed. 2d 443 (1989). In that case, the court held that a newspaper could not be punished for truthfully publishing information that the government had released and published in court records. But it also held that newspapers could be punished for truthfully reporting facts which were not public knowledge or which it unlawfully obtained,

<u>Florida Star v. B.J.F</u> explains why the newspaper reporter used RN Sathre to help get a copy of VPD Officer Materne's police report. Harshman knew that if she had her own copy of the report, she could cite it as her source and "avoid any problems" violating Campanelli's privacy. Harshman may have been able to obtain the police report without the incident number but she wanted to get it as quickly and as easily as possible and Sathre was happy to help her. The problem with citing <u>Florida Star v. B.J.F</u> in this case is that there is a big difference between the responsibilities of Harshman the reporter and the responsibilities of Sathre the Registered Nurse. RN Sathre owed Campanelli professional and ethical duties of care, loyalty, and confidentiality while reporter Harshman did not.

In ARNP Wilkinson's opinion, helping a reporter identify a patient and obtain details about her hospitalization in this manner constituted the wrongful disclosure of patient PHI in violation of HIPAA, RCW 70.02, WAC 246-840-700 (Standards of nursing conduct or practice) and the American Nursing Association Code of Nursing Ethics.

On patient right of privacy, the ANA Nursing Code of Ethics provides:

"Privacy: The nurse safeguards the patient's right to privacy. The need for health care does not justify unwanted intrusion into the patient's life. The nurse advocates for an environment that provides for sufficient physical privacy, including auditory privacy for discussions of a personal nature and policies and practices that protect the confidentiality of information."

A 2018 article entitled "A Nurses Guide To The Use of Social Media," published by the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. (NCSBN), states that nurses can positively use electronic media to share workplace experiences, particularly those events that are challenging or emotionally charged, but it is imperative not to mention patients by name or provide any information or details that could possibly identify them in order to protect patients' right to privacy).

> 2. <u>Sathre's breach of her legal, ethical and</u> <u>professional duties of care and confidentiality</u> <u>give rise to alternate causes of action under</u> <u>RCW 7.70, RCW 70.02, and common law</u> <u>breach of fiduciary duty</u>

The only privacy claim the appellate court appeared to address was the common law invasion of privacy public disclosure of private facts. As stated earlier in the brief, the Campanelli's are not seeking discretionary review of this ruling. They are seeking discretionary review of the court's dismissal of the three alternate claims for violations of the RN duty of care, RCW 70.02, and common law fiduciary duty arising from a special relationship which have different elements.

Campanelli has posed various hypothetical scenarios to test the defense theory and the appellate court's ruling that a nurse or doctor may assist a third party identify their patient through a public record without violating any legal or ethical duty of confidentiality. One scenario is as follows:

A superior court judge goes to the hospital and meets with a registered nurse for a memory and cognitive function test. The judge has experienced confusion and disorientation during court hearings and is concerned they could be signs of

stroke or dementia. Could the RN then contact the newspaper and suggest a story about judges and mandatory retirement ages? Could the RN describe to the reporter her contact with the judge so long as no name was mentioned? Finally, could the RN help the reporter identify her patient the judge while evading her duty of confidentiality by giving the reporter the number of a case assigned to the judge which would be public record as a matter of law?

2. <u>This is an important issue that effects health care</u> <u>consumer privacy rights and the quality of nursing</u> and medical care throughout Washington

RN Sathre provided a police report number to a newspaper reporter for the express purpose of helping her identify Campanelli and obtain details about her hospitalization in order to publish a story. That is bad but it gets worse. RN Sathre acted with the knowledge and consent of PHSW's Risk Management Department who told her it was okay to disclose anything contained in a public record before she contacted the newspaper. This shows that PHSW, as an institution employing thousands of nursing and medical professionals across Washington, has a radical misunderstanding of patient right to privacy with the potential to cause enormous damage.

The appellate court ruling in this case authorizes MDs, RNs and others, to help third parties identify their patients and obtain information regarding their treatment through public records which is a dangerous and radical deviation from existing law and ethical standards which will detrimentally impact the rights of all health care consumers in the state of Washington.

PHSW provides medical services to hundreds of thousands of people and promises to keep their personal health information private and confidential in accordance with the law and the highest ethical standards. They represent to the public that their personal health information is protected by the hospital whether it is in a public record or not. But they argued and convinced the appellate court of the exact opposite in this case which poses an existential threat to the confidentiality of private health information and the physician or registered nurse and patient trust relationship in the state of Washington.

F. CONCLUSION

The appellate court mistakenly adopted the defense argument that a registered nurse may assist a third party obtain a public record in order to identify a patient and obtain details about their hospitalization. The Campanelli's submit this is a very dangerous and detrimental erosion of medical privacy rights which runs contrary to the law and the ethical and professional standards which govern nursing. For all the foregoing reasons, Campanelli asks the supreme court to accept for discretionary review the issues raised in this brief including the dismissal of Campanelli's claims for breach of fiduciary duty, violation of RCW 70.02, and violation of RCW 7.70.

This certifies that the brief contains 3895 words and is in compliance with court rules.