FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/2/2025 12:58 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No. 1042647

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEAH CAMPANELLI and KEITH CAMPANELLI, wife and husband,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

V.

PEACEHEALTH SOUTHWEST MEDICAL CENTER, A WASHINGTON CORPORATION; SHANNON LORRAINE SATHRE AND THOMAS LEO SATHRE AND THEIR MARITAL COMMUNITY,

Defendants/Respondents

and

LEAH CAMPANELLI and KEITH CAMPANELLI, wife and husband,

Plaintiffs,

V.

DR. WAEL Y. MUSLEH; REBOUND ORTHOPEDICS AND NEUROSURGERY; NORTHWEST SURGICAL SPECIALISTS, P.C.,

Defendants.

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents/defendants PeaceHealth Southwest Medical Center, Shannon Lorraine Sathre, RN, and Thomas Leo Sathre (collectively "the PeaceHealth defendants") request that plaintiffs' petition be denied and the case remanded consistent with the Court of Appeals opinion.

II. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals and the trial court were correct in holding that plaintiff's privacy claims arising out of Nurse Sathre's communications to police and Reporter Harshman should be dismissed. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Nurse Sathre did not tell Harshman intimate details of Leah Campanelli's personal or private life, and an incident number to a publicly available police report is not such a detail. Plaintiffs' petition appears limited to seeking review of the dismissal of her privacy claims arising out of Nurse Sathre's communication to the reporter. Plaintiffs' petition provides nothing beyond

mere disagreement with the lower courts; it is ill-conceived and should be denied.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals decision provides the facts and procedural history pertinent to the case. *Campanelli v. PeaceHealth Sw. Med. Ctr.*, 565 P.3d 933, 937-940 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025), *as amended on denial of reconsideration* (May 5, 2025). Defendants commend that recitation of facts and procedural history to this Court.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals, Division 1, affirmed in part and reversed in part the decisions of the trial court. Section 1 565 P.3d 933. Plaintiffs' claims against the PeaceHealth defendants included: claims arising out of Nurse

¹ As explained in the Court of Appeals opinion, 565 P.3d at 939, plaintiffs moved in the trial court to consolidate this case and the case against Dr. Musleh. That motion was granted. On appeal the court considered the claims against all defendants together. The Court of Appeals reversed the grant of summary judgment as to Dr. Musleh and that decision is not a part of plaintiffs' petition for review which is directed only at the claims against the PeaceHealth defendants.

Sathre's communication to police (violation of the Uniform Health Care Information Act, chapter 70.02 RCW, invasion of privacy for the public disclosure of private facts, intrusion upon seclusion, and false light portrayal), medical malpractice against Nurse Sathre under chapter 7.70 RCW; and common law negligence against PeaceHealth; claims arising from Nurse Sathre's communication to Reporter Harshman (invasion of privacy, breach of fiduciary duty); and loss of marital consortium on behalf of Mr. Campanelli; and, finally, medical negligence under 7.70 RCW against PeaceHealth for the conduct of Nurse Alin Bob.

The trial court granted defendants' motions for summary judgment as to all claims, other than those that plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals analyzed
Washington's anti-SLAPP statute, RCW 4.24.510, and agreed
with the trial court's conclusion that Nurse Sathre's
communication to police was exactly the type of

communication that is immune to suit under the statute. 565
P.3d at 946, citing K.M.P. v. Big Brothers Big Sisters of Puget
Sound, 16 Wash. App. 2d 475, 481, 480, 483 P.3d 119 (2021)
and Leishman v. Ogden Murphy Wallace, PLLC, 196 Wash. 2d.
898, 908, 479 P.3d 688 (2021).

Next, the court examined Nurse Sathre's communication to Reporter Harshman and whether she invaded Campanelli's privacy by publicly disclosing private facts when she told Harshman the police incident number that identified Campanelli's name. 565 P.3d at 946-47. The court determined that Nurse Sathre did not give publicity to a matter of private concern by sharing an incident number to a publicly available police report. Id., citing Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wash.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). The Court also acknowledged the lack of a private cause of action available to enforce an alleged HIPAA violation, and the lack of any supported argument by plaintiffs that Nurse Sathre violated RCW 70.02. 565 P.3d at 945, n. 18.

With respect to the medical negligence claims, the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of the claim as to Nurse Sathre because plaintiffs raised the issue for the first time in their reply brief. 565 P.3d at 940, n. 11. The court reversed the grant of summary judgment as to the conduct of Nurse Alin Bob finding that the expert declaration submitted by plaintiffs created a question of fact. 565 P.3d at 945. Therefore, following the Court of Appeals' disposition, the only claim remaining is the claim for medical negligence against PeaceHealth for the conduct of PeaceHealth's employee Nurse Alin Bob. Defendants have not challenged the Court of Appeals' reversal of summary judgment as to that claim.

Plaintiffs moved for reconsideration. One of the issues they raised was the court's failure to explicitly mention the breach of fiduciary duty claim in its opinion. The court denied the motion and issued an amendment to its opinion. The court declined to reach plaintiff's claim for breach of a duty arising out of a special relationship. Plaintiffs' arguments were based

on Virgina law and were not supported by "meaningful analysis" and therefore the court declined to reach the issue.

565 P.3d at 945, n. 18. Plaintiffs fail to explain why this Court should now reach the issue that was undeveloped below and argued based on out-of-state law. Plainly, without disclosure of private information, plaintiffs have no privacy claims of any kind.

Following the Court of Appeals' denial of plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration, they sought review in this Court.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The issues presented for review.

Plaintiffs state the issue on review is whether "Sathre violated her legal and ethical duties *** by helping a newspaper reporter obtain a public record to identify Campanelli as her patient and to obtain details about her hospitalization[."] Thus, it appears the petition is limited to seeking review of the Court of Appeal's decision as to those claims that arose out of Nurse Sathre's communication to Reporter Harshman.

Plaintiffs' petition further states that they are not challenging the Court of Appeals decision with respect to the dismissal of the common law claim for invasion of privacy for public disclosure of private facts. Plaintiffs' Petition at 11. However, they are asking for review of the dismissal of the "three alternative claims for breach of the RN standard of care (RCW 7.70), violation of privacy rights under RCW 70.04, and breach of common law fiduciary duty." *Id.* It is unclear how plaintiffs can acknowledge that no private information was disclosed but still seek reversal of the dismissal of claims premised on a breach of privacy.

Regardless, the Court of Appeals did not address the medical malpractice claim under RCW 7.70 because it was not raised on appeal until plaintiffs' reply brief, this Court has no basis to review that decision and plaintiffs provide none. The Court of Appeals appropriately declined to consider the issue. *Campanelli*, 565 P.3d at 940, n. 11. The petition does not

explain why this Court should review an issue that was not properly presented for appellate review.

With respect to plaintiffs' claims for violation of RCW 70.02 and breach of fiduciary duty, neither warrant review. As addressed by the Court of Appeals, there is no private cause of action under HIPAA or Washington's corollary in RCW 70.02. Further, plaintiffs failed again to develop or support any argument below. 565 P.3d at 945, n. 18. It is undisputed that Nurse Sathre provided an incident number to a publicly available police report. That conduct could not have violated plaintiffs' privacy because there was no disclosure of private information. Plaintiffs' petition fails to articulate any new argument or compelling reason this Court should grant review.

B. Plaintiffs fail to identify a basis for review.

Whether review should be granted is decided by reference to the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4. Plaintiffs' petition fails to explain how it meets those criteria; indeed, it fails to reference RAP 13.4. Plaintiffs simply

reiterate their arguments on the merits made below. Those arguments are irrelevant to the issue of whether this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b). The petition does not invoke any of the relevant considerations and it should be denied on that basis. Further, as discussed below, none of the relevant considerations warrant review.

1. The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Plaintiffs have not identified, and defendants are unaware of, any decision from this Court or the Court of Appeals that is in conflict with the published decision in this case. Plaintiffs' petition fails to meet the first two criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

2. There is no constitutional question presented.

The issues identified in the petition for review arise from Washington statutes, RCW 7.70 and RCW 70.04, and common law. Plaintiffs fail to identify any constitutional question for review. The petition fails to meet the third criteria in RAP 13.4(b).

3. Plaintiffs fail to raise an issue of substantial public interest that needs to be decided by this Court.

Plaintiffs do not present any issue of substantial public interest for this Court to decide, nor do plaintiffs offer any explanation of any such issue. To the extent this Court considers whether the petition satisfies the fourth criterion, defendants assert the following argument.

"Substantial public interest" is not defined by the RAP, however, this Court's cases highlight the widespread impact on the public that must be present to warrant invocation of this consideration as a basis for review. *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (granting review of a moot case because it contained an issue of substantial public interest: whether communication by the district attorney to all judges that had the potential to impact every drug offender sentencing proceeding in Pierce County constituted inappropriate *ex parte* communication); *see also Matter of Williams*, 197 Wash.2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445 (2021) (accepting

review based on the presence of a constitutional question and an issue of substantial public interest where an inmate sought review of a Court of Appeals decision denying a personal restraint petition challenging confinement while COVID-19 heavily affected that the other facilities in the state); *Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wash.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017) (Prior Court of Appeals opinions that removed an entire class of sex offenders from registration requirements affected public safety in a manner that permitted review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

Here, there is no analogous issue of substantial public interest. It is undisputed that what Nurse Sathre disclosed was an incident number to a publically available police report. She did not publicize the private or personal information of Leah Campanelli.

A generalized argument that the public has an interest in the case is not sufficient for the Court to grant review, otherwise the rule would lose its meaning. This case does not present a question of whether a nurse violated patient privacy—

that is simply not the facts. The Court of Appeals decision does not "erode" a patient's privacy rights or otherwise rise to a level that warrants review as an issue of substantial public interest.

Plaintiffs' petition fails to meet the fourth criterion of RAP 13.4(b).

VI. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, defendants request this Court deny plaintiffs petition for review and remand the case to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the Court of Appeals opinion.

This document contains 1,889 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.